



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY J O U R N A L



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

# Reactive oxygen species: A generalist in regulating development and pathogenicity of phytopathogenic fungi



### Zhanquan Zhang<sup>a</sup>, Yong Chen<sup>a</sup>, Boqiang Li<sup>a</sup>, Tong Chen<sup>a</sup>, Shiping Tian<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Key Laboratory of Plant Resources, Institute of Botany, The Innovative Academy of Seed Design, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100093, China <sup>b</sup> University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100049, China

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 August 2020 Received in revised form 21 October 2020 Accepted 23 October 2020 Available online 4 November 2020

Keywords: Reactive oxygen species Function Development Virulence Plant fungal pathogen

### ABSTRACT

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are small molecules with high oxidative activity, and are usually produced as byproducts of metabolic processes in organisms. ROS play an important role during the interaction between plant hosts and pathogenic fungi. Phytopathogenic fungi have evolved sophisticated ROS producing and scavenging systems to achieve redox homeostasis. Emerging evidences suggest that ROS derived from fungi are involved in various important aspects of the development and pathogenesis, including formation of conidia, sclerotia, conidial anastomosis tubes (CATs) and infectious structures. In this mini-review, we summarize the research progress on the redox homeostasis systems, the versatile functions of ROS in the development and pathogenesis of phytopathogenic fungi, and the regulation effects of exogenous factors on intercellular ROS and virulence of the fungal pathogens.

© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

### Contents

1.	Introduction	3344
2.	The producing and scavenging mechanisms of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi	3345
3.	The intracellular distribution and transport of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi	3346
4.	ROS regulating development and virulence of phytopathogenic fungi	3346
5.	Exogenous factors affecting ROS production of fungi	3347
6.	Conclusions and future prospects	3348
	Author contributions	3348
	Declaration of Competing Interest	3348
	Acknowledgments	3348
	References	3348

#### 1. Introduction

It is estimated that global agricultural production need to increase by 60–110% by 2050 to meet the increasing demands

*E-mail address:* tsp@ibcas.ac.cn (S. Tian).

caused by population growth and the increased consumption of meat and dairy [1,2]. More seriously, phytopathogenic fungi cause significant losses in global crop production every year, which poses a major threat to the world's food security [3,4]. Therefore, it is very important to control crop diseases to reduce yield loss. The in-depth understanding of the pathogenesis mechanism of pathogenic fungi will help to formulate more effective control strategies for plant disease.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.10.024

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Key Laboratory of Plant Resources, Institute of Botany, The Innovative Academy of Seed Design, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100093, China.

<sup>2001-0370/© 2020</sup> The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

During the past decades, great efforts have been made to unravel the pathogenesis of phytopathogenic fungi. Previous studies have shown that the pathogenicity of phytopathogenic fungi can be regulated at multiple levels, such as environmental conditions [5,6], protein secretion [7], signal transduction [8], gene transcription [9,10], etc. It is well known that, at the initial stage of pathogen infection, plant cell can rapidly accumulate abundant of reactive oxygen species (ROS) around the infection site, called as "oxidative burst", which is considered as the primary disease resistance response [11,12]. In addition, ROS, together with Ca<sup>2+</sup> and electrical signals, can also be used as secondary messengers to regulate systematic acquired resistance (SAR) of plant [13,14]. The hypersensitive response of host can limit the spread of biotrophic pathogens. By construct, the ROS-induced cell death is beneficial to necrotrophic pathogens, which feed on the degradation products of plant cells [15]. ROS produced by fungal pathogens includes singlet oxygen  $({}^{1}O_{2}^{-})$  superoxide anion  $(\bullet O_{2}^{-})$ , hydroxyl radical  $(\bullet OH)$ and hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ , and accumulate at the hyphal tips during the infectious process [15]. Moreover, ROS are usually produced as byproducts of some metabolic processes in organisms and are converted from oxygen molecules through electron transfer reactions, which usually take place in mitochondria, peroxisomes and NADPH oxidase complex [16], and can react with many macromolecules, such as protein, DNA and lipid, leading to cell apoptosis or death [17,18]. As in animals and plants, fungi have also evolved a set of complicated producing and scavenging systems of ROS to balance the cellular redox state. A growing body of evidence suggests that ROS derived from pathogenic fungi play critical roles in the regulation of development and pathogenicity. In particular, recent studies demonstrate that many components of ROS producing systems (such as NADPH oxidase complex) have sophisticated regulatory mechanisms in various aspects of the biological processes in many phytopathogenic fungi, including some important fungal pathogens of crops, Magnaporthe oryzae and Botrytis cinerea [19–22].

Here, we will briefly summarize the research progress of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi in the following aspect: 1) the cellular redox homeostasis systems; 2) the transport and distribution of ROS; 3) the functions of ROS in development and pathogenicity; 4) regulation effects of exogenous factors on intercellular ROS.

## 2. The producing and scavenging mechanisms of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi

In order to maintain the balance of redox state, phytopathogenic fungi have evolved a set of ROS producing and scavenging mechanisms (Fig. 1). Among the fungal ROS producing systems, NADPH oxidase (Nox) is most widely characterized. Nox complex is composed of several subunits and usually localize at plasma membrane or endoplasmic reticulum membrane, and transport electrons through membranes reducing oxygen molecule to superoxide anion  $(\bullet O_2^-)$  using NADPH as electron donor [23]. Then, superoxide dismutase (SOD) catalyze  $\bullet O_2^-$  into H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. In filamentous fungi, there are two distinct subfamilies of Nox, NoxA and NoxB, which are the homologs of gp91<sup>phox</sup> in mammals [24]. In some fungi, such as M. oryzae, Podospora anserina and Aspergillus terreus. a third Nox (NoxC) was characterized, which contains putative calcium binding EF-hand motifs (Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding) at the Nterminus, a feather of human Nox5 or plant RBOHs [24]. In addition to the catalytic subunits, Nox complex also contains intracellular regulatory subunits and the subunits for stabilizing structure. Adapter protein is required for the function of Nox complex, and NoxD, which is the homolog of the adaptor protein p22<sup>phox</sup> in mammals, has been identified in some plant paghogenic fungi, such as Botrytis cinerea, Podospora anserina and M. oryzae [22,25-27].

In *B. cinerea*, BcNoxD can directly interact with catalytic subunit NoxA, and another transmembrane protein BcPls1 performs a similar function to BcNoxD in the NoxB complex [21]. Apart from the membrane-standing subunits, other components are also necessary to maintain the activity of Nox complex, including the regulatory subunit NoxR, small GTPase Rac and Rho [20,21,28,29]. The interaction between regulatory subunit and catalytic subunit take



Fig. 1. The producing and scavenging systems of ROS in pathogenic fungi.

place at the cytoplasmic side of membrane [30,31]. In most cases, both NoxA and NoxB can be regulated by NoxR and Rac. The mutant of NoxR mutant always shows an additive phenotype of the mutant of NoxA and NoxB, suggesting that NoxR is the regulatory subunit of both NoxA and NoxB [20,32]. In some fungi, the small GTPase cdc42 and scaffold protein Bem1 were also identified as the subunits of the Nox complex [33,34]. The deletion of Nox genes in some fungi does not reduce the ROS level, and even increases the accumulation of intercellular ROS [19,35,36]. This suggests that there are other alterative ROS producing systems in phytopathogenic fungi besides Nox complex. The mitochondria also produce continuous levels of  $\bullet O_2^-$  at complex I and III of electron transport chain, and have been considered to produce more ROS in quantitative terms than Nox in most cell types [37,38]. In addition, other enzymatic systems of phytopathogenic fungi are contributed to the ROS production in form of the byproduct of redox reaction, including laccases, galactose oxidases, guinone reductases and glucose oxidase [36,39,40,41].

Fungi possess several ROS scavenging systems to neutralize excessive ROS originating from normal physiological processes or environmental stresses. The antioxidant systems are mainly divided into non-enzymatic type and enzymatic type [15]. The major non-enzymatic antioxidant is glutathione, a tripeptide  $\gamma$ -Lglutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine. The free thiol group of this small soluble tripeptide can transfer the electrons of oxygen radicals, and then two reduced glutathione molecules (GSH) form an oxidized molecule (GSSH) through a disulfide bond [42]. The addition of exogenous GSH can significantly enhance oxidative tolerance and biocontrol efficiency of antagonistic yeast against Penicillium *expansum* [43]. In addition to GSH, some other organic compounds in fungi also have antioxidant properties, such as ascorbic acid, carotenoids, flavonoids and alkaloids [44]. Thioredoxin proteins and their respective reductases are the most common enzymatic ROS scavenging system. The thioredoxins served as the reducing agents of ROS by forming disulfide bonds between two inherent cysteines. In B. cinerea, there are two thioredoxins (BcTrx1 and BcTrx2) and one thioredoxin reductase (BcTrr1), and the deletion of BcTrx1 and *BcTrr1* led to highly sensitive to oxidative stress [45]. Besides the thioredoxin system, catalases, superoxide dismutases and peroxidases are also involved in the scavenging of ROS in pathogenic fungi [8,30]. SOD can convert  $\bullet O_2^-$  to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and CAT and POD sequentially degrade  $H_2O_2$  to  $H_2O$  and  $O_2$ .

### 3. The intracellular distribution and transport of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi

The levels and distribution of ROS in cells is a dynamic process depending on different developmental stages. ROS are usually generated at different sites of cell, such as cytosol, vacuoles, peroxisomes and mitochondria. In the growing hyphae, mitochondria are the main source of intercellular ROS, and the distribution of ROS shows obviously polarity at the apical tip of hyphae [46]. Similarly, in the appressorium formation stage of infectious process,  $\bullet O_2^-$  also accumulates inside the hyphal tip [47].

The small GTPase Rho3 is closely related to the polar distribution of intercellular ROS in *B. cinerea*. The deletion of *rho3* can impair the polarity of ROS distribution at the hyphal tip and decrease the virulence of *B. cinerea* to apple and tomato fruits [28]. BcnoxR, as the regulatory subunit of Nox complex, significantly affects ROS distribution in cell and virulence of fungal pathogens. The *ΔbcnoxR* mutant shows reduced grow and sporulation, and impaired virulence of *B. cinerea* to apple, strawberry and tomato fruits [32]. It means that the distribution of ROS at the hyphal tip is important for the polar growth of hyphae and virulence of pathogenic fungi. Aquaporins (AQPs) are integral membrane proteins and play important role in regulating water or glycerol homeostasis in unicellular and multicellular organisms by mediating rapid water transport across biological membranes. The aquaporins of fungi can be subdivided to five classes, including two groups of classical aquaporins and three groups of aquaglyceroporins [48]. There are eight AQPs in *B. cinerea*, among which only AQP8 has been proved to be involved in ROS distribution and transmembrane transport [49]. Heterologous expression of *AQP8* in yeast increased the uptake of exogenous H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, indicating that *AQP8* mediates transmembrane transport of ROS in cell (Fig. 2). Moreover, the expression of *BcnoxR* was significantly affected by AQP8, suggesting that the transmembrane transport of ROS mediated by AQP8 is closely related to Nox in regulating the cellular redox homoeostasis [49].

### 4. ROS regulating development and virulence of phytopathogenic fungi

Function analysis have unraveled that the components of ROS producing and scavenging systems are involved in the developmental processes and virulence of fungal pathogens (Fig. 2). In phytopathogenic fungi, conidia are the main source of transmission and infection, and sclerotia are important stress-resistant tissue. Both of them are regulated by intercellular ROS. Oxidative stress can induce the formation of sclerotia of Sclerotium rolfsii [50]. In B. cinerea, the subunits of Nox complex, including NoxA, NoxB, NoxR, NoxD and Pls1, were all responsible for sclerotia formation; meanwhile, NoxD, Rac, Rho3 and Bem1 are related to the conidial production [8,46]. In Alternaria alternata, the inactivation of NoxA, NoxB or NoxR genes will reduces conidiation by 95% [51]. Furthermore, some knockout mutants of Nox subunits in plant pathogenic fungi showed slower growth rate [28,52], implying that ROS is a critical regulator of vegetative and reproductive developmental processes of the fungi. Recent studies in some model fungi have indicated that ROS are actively involved in the formation of conidial anastomosis tubes (CATs). CATs are short germ tube that can fuse with each other, which is a self-fusion mechanism in fungi. ROS produced by Nox complex are considered to be involved in this cell fusion process. In Neurospora, ROS might directly regulate the cell-cell recognition at the hyphal tip [53]. The catalytic subunits NoxA and regulatory sununit NoxR of B. cinerea have proved to be responsible for the fusion process of CATs [20,54]. Subsequently, Siegmund et al., (2015) found that NoxA must be exported from the endoplasmic reticulum for CAT formation, and NoxD can directly interact with NoxA to affect the CAT formation in B. cinerea [26]. In addition, ROS can modulate the circadian rhythm by influencing the redox homeostasis of pathogenic fungi [55].

ROS play a critical role during the interaction between fungal pathogens and plant hosts [16]. Once the plant tissue is attacked by pathogenic fungi, it will quickly accumulate a large amount of ROS around the infection site as the initial resistant response [31]. The oxidative burst can effectively inhibit the colonization of biotrophic pathogens; while the necrotrophic pathogens, such as *B. cinerea* and *Leptosphaeria maculans*, can benefit from the host cell death caused by ROS accumulation to facilitate its infection, because they can only survive in dead cells [15]. Apart from the ROS produced by plant cell, ROS produced within fungal cells are also rapidly accumulated in the hyphal tips or around the penetrated cell wall during the infectious process [15]. This suggests that the ROS derived from phytopathogenic fungi are actively involved in the infection process. In B. cinerea, both catalytic subunits NoxA and NoxB have great impact on pathogenicity, but there is a distinct difference between their function. NoxB as well



Fig. 2. The functions of ROS in regulating the development and pathogenicity of pathogenic fungi.

as its adaptor protein Pls1 are necessary for the development of appressoria and involved in the formation of primary lesions. Instead, NoxA and its adaptor protein NoxD are responsible for the formation of infection cushion and regulate the colonization process following primary infection [15]. The regulatory subunit NoxR showed an additive effect of NoxA and NoxB in regulating the pathogenicity of B. cinerea [20]. In M. oryzae, the rapid accumulation of ROS during infection is closely related to the differentiation of appressorium and penetration peg, thereby influencing the virulence [19]. Nox2 was involved in the septin-mediated repolarization of appressorium, but Nox1 was required for the maintenance of the polarized growth. Double deletion of Nox1 and Nox2 in *M. oryzae* led to non-pathogenicity [19]. Interestingly, both in *B.* cinerea and M. oryzae, deletion of Nox did not affect the ROS level [19,20], implying that alterative ROS producing system may be contributed to the infectious process of phytopathogenic fungi. Giesbert et al., (2008) demonstrated that Nox could not affect the penetration, but Cpnox1 was required for the following colonization process in the biotrophic pathogen Claviceps purpurea, which do not form specialized infection structures [56]. Similarly, NoxA, NoxB and NoxR show important effect on the regulation of virulence of A. alternata in citrus [51]. However, in A. alternata Japanese pear pathotype, only NoxB was essential for the pathogenicity,

while the deletion of NoxA had no obvious effect on pathogenicity [57]. In recent, Zhao et al., (2016) reported that the VdNoxB and VdPls1 in *Verticillium dahiae*, a pathogenic fungus causes wild disease in many crops, could regulate penetration peg formation during the initial colonization of cotton roots [58]. These results indicate that the subunits of Nox complex affect virulence of phytopathogenic fungi via mediating the differentiation and development of specialized infection structures of the fungi. Meanwhile, the contributions of Nox genes to pathogenicity differ in different fungal species, even in different pathotypes.

### 5. Exogenous factors affecting ROS production of fungi

In view of the critical roles of ROS in regulating the development and virulence of phytopathogenic fungi, exogenous factors are widely used to control the plant diseases, because they have a target to ROS in the fungal cells. Borates are essential micronutrients of plant, and have been proved to be effective in controlling diseases caused by *Penicillium expansum* in apple [59] and by *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* in mango fruit [60]. *P. expansum* treated with 1% borate showed a rapid accumulation of intercellular ROS and protein carbonylation, leading to the decrease of virulence of the pathogen [59]. Up on the exposure to borate, abundance of two critical antioxidant enzymes, catalase and glutathione Stransferase, were significantly decreased in P. expansum, which led to the impaired ROS scavenging capacity [59]. Similarly, borate treatment reduces the anthracnose in mango fruit by inducing the ROS generation and mitochondrial degradation in the spores of C. gloeosporioides [60]. Recent research has shown that some biosource antimicrobial agents (such as cinnamic acid, methyl thujate, epsilon-polylysine, honokiol etc.) can inhibit the virulence of phytopathogenic fungi by inducing the excessive accumulation of intercellular ROS and disturb the redox homoeostasis [61-64]. Methyl thujate treatment could significantly induce the expression of the Nox genes in B. cinerea, including BcNoxB, BcNoxD, BcNoxR, BcCdc24, BcPls1, BcRac1 and BcBem1, which accelerated the production of ROS [62]. Apart from the chemical substances, heat treatment (40 °C for 5 min) has been reported to have inhibiting effect on spore germination and germ tube elongation of Monilinia fructicola, because of induction of ROS in cells of the fungal pathogen [65]. Honokiol and heat treatment will led to significant decline of mitochondrial membrane potential in pathogenic fungi, suggesting mitochondrial dysfunction and probable release of cytochrome C from mitochondria [64,65]. Biological control of plant diseases by antagonistic yeasts is a promising alternative to chemical fungicides. However, biocontrol efficacy of the yeasts is closely related to their antioxidant ability. Some exogenous antioxidants or antioxidant inducers (such as glutathione and glycine betaine) have been found to significantly improve the biocontrol efficacy of antagonistic yeasts against fungal pathogens, because these substances can enhance the tolerance of the yeasts to oxidative stress [43,66].

#### 6. Conclusions and future prospects

ROS are ubiquitous in living cells and play an important role in all fungus-plant interactions, mostly as signaling components. Phytopathogenic fungi have developed efficient ROS scavenging systems that are under complex regulatory control, but less known so far about ROS sensing systems. In phytopathogenic fungi, the ROS producing systems mainly include NADPH oxidase (Nox) complexes and mitochondria; while the ROS scavenging systems have the non-enzymatic GSH-GSSH and enzymatic thioredoxin. Nox complexes are the most common enzymatic producer of ROS, and their subunits are involved in various aspects of development and virulence in phytopathogenic fungi. ROS regulate the virulence of phytopathogenic fungi via affecting the development of conidia, sclerotia, CATs and infectious structures of the fungi. Considering the important of ROS involved in the development and virulence of phytopathogenic fungi, the redox homeostasis system can be used as an important target of many exogenous factors to control the virulence of the fungi. Some exogenous substances have been proved to inhibit virulence of phytopathogenic fungi by mediating polar distribution of ROS at the hyphal tip. The integral membrane protein aquaporin (AQP8) may mediate the transmembrane transport of ROS in B. cinerea.

In a word, ROS have aroused extensive research interest in phytopathogenic fungi, and the great progress in understanding the intracellular production of ROS, and the function in the regulation of development and virulence of the fungal pathogens has been made in recent years. However, there are still many unknown functions and mechanisms of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi to deeply study, including 1) what are the specific mechanisms of action of ROS in different phytopathogenic fungi? since there is difference in the action mechanisms of ROS in necrotroph and biotroph; 2) what are their targets of ROS in the regulation of developmental processes and virulence of phytopathogenic fungi? 3) why are ROS scavenging systems not related to virulence of phy-

topathogenic fungi in most cases? 4) what are Intracellular transport pathways and special transporters of ROS? Since transport mechanism of ROS in phytopathogenic fungi is very limited. With the development of research techniques and methods, these issues will be revealed in the future.

### Author contributions

S-P. T conceived the review article and revised the manuscript. Z-Q. Z wrote the manuscript. Y. C, B-Q. L and T. C provided data and conceived the figures. All authors have approved the final article.

### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by funds from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant Nos. 31930086; 31972457; 31722043).

### References

- [1] Tilman D, Balzer C, Hill J, Befort BL. Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2011;108(50):20260–4. Ray DK, Mueller ND, West PC, Foley JA. Yield trends are insufficient to double
- [2] global crop production by 2050. PLoS ONE 2013; 8: e66428.
- [3] OERKE E-C. Crop losses to pests. J. Agric. Sci. 2006;144(1):31-43.
- [4] Fisher MC, Henk DA, Briggs CJ, Brownstein JS, Madoff LC, et al. NIH public access. Nature 2013:484:1-18.
- [5] Manteau S, Abouna S, Lambert B, Legendre L. Differential regulation by ambient pH of putative virulence factor secretion by the phytopathogenic fungus Botrytis cinerea. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2003; 43: 359-366.
- [6] Rodriguez-Romero J, Hedtke M, Kastner C, Müller S, Fischer R. Fungi, Hidden in Soil or Up in the Air: Light Makes a Difference. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 2010;64 (1):585-610. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134000.
- [7] Zhang Z, Qin G, Li B, Tian S. Knocking Out Bcsas1 in Botrytis cinerea Impacts Growth, Development, and Secretion of Extracellular Proteins, Which Decreases Virulence. MPMI 2014;27(6):590-600.
- [8] Fillinger S, Elad Y. Botrytis-the fungus, the pathogen and its management in agricultural systems. Pub. New York: Springer; 2016. 486 p.
- [9] Li J, Mu W, Veluchamy S, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Pan H, Rollins JA. The GATA-type IVb zinc-finger transcription factor SsNsd1 regulates asexual-sexual development and appressoria formation in Sclerotinia sclerotiorum: SsNsd1 regulates asexual-sexual development. Mol Plant Pathol 2018;19(7):1679-89. https:// loi.org/10.1111/mpp.1265
- [10] Zhu GL, Yu G, Zhang XH, Liu JL, Zhang YH, et al. The formaldehyde dehydrogenase SsFdh1 is regulated by and functionally cooperates with the GATA transcription factor SsNsd1 in Sclerotinia sclerotiorum. mSystems 2019; 4: e00379-19.
- [11] Wojtaszek P. Oxidative burst: an early plant response to pathogen infection. Biochem J 1997; 322: 681-692.
- [12] Torres MA, Dangl JL, Jones JDG. Arabidopsis gp91phox homologues AtrbohD and AtrbohF are required for accumulation of reactive oxygen intermediates in the plant defense response. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2002;99(1):517-22,
- [13] Wang C, El-Shetehy M, Shine MB, Yu K, Navarre D, Wendehenne D, Kachroo A, Kachroo P. Free Radicals Mediate Systemic Acquired Resistance. Cell Reports 2014;7(2):348-55
- [14] Gilroy S, Białasek M, Suzuki N, Górecka M, Devireddy AR, Karpiński S, Mittler R. ROS, Calcium, and Electric Signals: Key Mediators of Rapid Systemic Signaling in Plants. Plant Physiol. 2016;171(3):1606-15. https://doi.org/10.1104/ p.16.00434
- [15] Heller J, Tudzynski P. Reactive Oxygen Species in Phytopathogenic Fungi: Signaling, Development, and Disease. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 2011;49 (1):369-90. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-072910-095355
- [16] Tian S, Qin G, Li B. Reactive oxygen species involved in regulating fruit senescence and fungal pathogenicity. Plant Mol Biol 2013;82(6):593-602.
- [17] Reverter-Branchat G, Cabiscol E, Tamarit J, Ros J. Oxidative Damage to Specific Proteins in Replicative and Chronological-aged Saccharomyces cerevisiae: COMMON TARGETS AND PREVENTION BY CALORIE RESTRICTION. J. Biol. Chem. 2004;279(30):31983-9.
- [18] Branduardi P, Fossati T, Sauer M, Pagani R, Mattanovich D, et al. Biosynthesis of vitamin C by yeast leads to increased stress resistance. PLoS One 2007; 2: e1092.

- Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 18 (2020) 3344-3349
- [19] Egan MJ, Wang Z-Y, Jones MA, Smirnoff N, Talbot NJ. Generation of reactive oxygen species by fungal NADPH oxidases is required for rice blast disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2007;104(28):11772–7.
- [20] Segmüller N, Kokkelink L, Giesbert S, Odinius D, van Kan J, Tudzynski P. NADPH Oxidases Are Involved in Differentiation and Pathogenicity in *Botrytis cinerea*. MPMI 2008;21(6):808–19.
- [21] Siegmund U, Heller J, van Kan JAL, Tudzynski P. The NADPH oxidase complexes in Botrytis cinerea: evidence for a close association with the ER and the Tetraspanin Pls1. PLoS ONE 2013; 8: e55879.
- [22] Lacaze I, Lalucque H, Siegmund U, Silar P, Brun S. Identification of NoxD/Pro41 as the homologue of the p22 phox NADPH oxidase subunit in fungi : NoxD/ Pro41: the fungal p22 phox homologue. Mol Microbiol 2015;95(6):1006–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12876.
- [23] BEDARD K, LARDY B, KRAUSE K. NOX family NADPH oxidases: Not just in mammals. Biochimie 2007;89(9):1107–12.
- [24] Takemoto D, Tanaka A, Scott B. NADPH oxidases in fungi: Diverse roles of reactive oxygen species in fungal cellular differentiation. Fungal Genet Biol 2007;44(11):1065–76.
- [25] Scott B. Conservation of fungal and animal nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase complexes: Conservation of animal and fungal Nox. Mol Microbiol 2015;95(6):910–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12946</u>.
- [26] Siegmund U, Marschall R, Tudzynski P. BcNoxD, a putative ER protein, is a new component of the NADPH oxidase complex in Botrytis cinerea: BcNoxD, a new component of a fungal Nox complex. Mol Microbiol 2015;95(6):988–1005. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12869.
- [27] Galhano R, Illana A, Ryder LS, Rodríguez-Romero J, Demuez M, et al. Tpc1 is an important Zn(II)2Cys6 transcriptional regulator required for polarized growth and virulence in the rice blast fungus. Plos Pathog 2017; 13: e1006516.
- [28] An B, Li B, Qin G, Tian S. Function of small GTPase Rho3 in regulating growth, conidiation and virulence of *Botrytis cinerea*. Fungal Genet Biol 2015;75:46–55.
- [29] Marschall R, Siegmund U, Burbank J, Tudzynski P. Update on Nox function, site of action and regulation in *Botrytis cinerea*. Fungal Biol Biotechnol 2016;3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40694-016-0026-6.
- [30] Marschall R, Tudzynski P. Reactive oxygen species in development and infection processes. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2016;57:138–46.
- [31] Segal LM, Wilson RA. Reactive oxygen species metabolism and plant-fungal interactions. Fungal Genet Biol 2018;110:1–9.
- [32] Li H, Zhang ZQ, He C, Qin GZ, Tian SP. Comparative proteomics reveals the potential targets of BCNoxR, a putative regulatory subunit of NADPH oxidase of *Bortytis cinerea*. Mol Plant Microbe In 2016;29:990–1003.
- [33] Takemoto D, Kamakura S, Saikia S, Becker Y, Wrenn R, Tanaka A, Sumimoto H, Scott B. Polarity proteins Bem1 and Cdc24 are components of the filamentous fungal NADPH oxidase complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2011;108(7):2861–6.
- [34] Takemoto D, Tanaka A, Scott B. A p67 Phox -Like Regulator Is Recruited to Control Hyphal Branching in a Fungal–Grass Mutualistic Symbiosis. Plant Cell 2006;18(10):2807–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.106.046169</u>.
- [35] Brun S, Malagnac F, Bidard F, Lalucque H, Silar P. Functions and regulation of the nox family in the filamentous fungus Podospora anserina: a new role in cellulose degradation. Mol Microbiol 2009; 74: 480–96.
- [36] Grissa I, Bidard F, Grognet P, Grossetete S, Silar P. The Nox/Ferric reductase/ Ferric reductase-like families of Eumycetes. Fungal Biology 2010;114 (9):766–77.
- [37] Balaban RS, Nemoto S, Finkel T. Mitochondria, Oxidants, and Aging. Cell 2005;120(4):483-95.
- [38] Qin GZ, Liu J, Li BQ, Cao BH, Tian SP. Hydrogen peroxide acts on specific mitochondrial proteins to induce cell death of fungal pathogen revealed by proteomic analysis. PLoS ONE 2011;6:e21945.
- [39] Adrian M, Rajaei H, Jeandet P, Veneau J, Bessis R. Resveratrol Oxidation in Botrytis cinerea Condia. Phytopathology<sup>®</sup> 1998;88(5):472–6.
  [40] M. Grandet M. D. Martine, M. D. Startine, F. Conservation, C. Startine, Startine, C. Startine, C. Startine, Startine, C. Startine, Startine,
- [40] Martinez AT, Speranza M, Ruiz-Duenas FJ, Ferreira F, Camarero S. Biodegradation of lignocellulosics: microbial, chemical, and enzymatic aspects of the fungal attack of lignin. Int Microbiol 2005;8:195–204.
- [41] Hadas Y, Goldberg I, Pines O, Prusky D. The relationship between expression of glucose oxidase, gluconic acid accumulation, acidification of host tissue and the pathogenicity of *Penicillium expansum*. Phytopathology 2007;97:384–90.
- [42] Carmel-Harel O, Storz G. Roles of the Glutathione- and Thioredoxin-Dependent Reduction Systems in the *Escherichia Coli* and *Saccharomyces Cerevisiae* Responses to Oxidative Stress. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 2000;54(1):439–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.54.1.439</u>.
- [43] Zhang ZQ, Chen J, Li BQ, He C, Chen Y, et al. Influence of oxidative stress on biocontrol activity of *Cryptococcus laurentii* against blue nold on peach fruit. Front Microbiol 2017;8:151.

- [44] Blokhina O, Virolainen E, Fagerstedt KV. Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress: a review. Ann Bot 2003;91:179–94.
- [45] Viefhues A, Heller J, Temme N, Tudzynski P. Redox Systems in *Botrytis cinerea*: Impact on Development and Virulence. MPMI 2014;27(8):858–74.
- [46] Tian SP, Zhang ZQ, Qin GZ, Chen Y, Li BQ, et al. Functions of NADPH oxidase complex in development and pathogenicity of *Botrytis cinerea*. In: Gorawala P, Mandhatri S, editors. Agricultrual research updates. New York: Nova science; 2019. p. 193–212.
- [47] Marschall R, Tudzynski P. A new and reliable method for live imaging and quantification of reactive oxygen species in *Botrytis cinerea*. Fungal Genet Biol 2014;71:68–75.
- [48] Pettersson N, Filipsson C, Becit E, Brive L, Hohmann S. Aquaporins in yeasts and filamentous fungi. Biol Cell 2005; 97: 487–500.
- [49] An B, Li B, Li H, Zhang Z, Qin G, Tian S. Aquaporin8 regulates cellular development and reactive oxygen species production, a critical component of virulence in Botrytis cinerea. New Phytol 2016;209(4):1668–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13721</u>.
- [50] Georgiou CD, Patsoukis N, Papapostolou I, Zervoudakis G. Sclerotial metamorphosis in filamentous fungi is induced by oxidative stress. 2006; Integr Comp Biol 46: 691–712.
- [51] Chung K-R. Reactive oxygen species in the citrus fungal pathogen Alternaria alternata: The roles of NADPH-dependent oxidase. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 2014;88:10–7.
- [52] Minz Dub A, Kokkelink L, Tudzynski B, Tudzynski P, Sharon A. Involvement of Botrytis cinerea Small GTPases BcRAS1 and BcRAC in Differentiation, Virulence, and the Cell Cycle. Eukaryot Cell 2013;12(12):1609–18. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1128/EC.00160-13</u>.
- [53] Herzog S, Schumann MR, Fleißner A. Cell fusion in *Neurospora crassa*. Curr Opin Microbiol 2015;28:53–9.
- [54] Roca MG, Weichert M, Siegmund U, Tudzynski P, Fleißner A. Germling fusion via conidial anastomosis tubes in the grey mould *Botrytis cinerea* requires NADPH oxidase activity. Fungal Biology 2012;116(3):379–87.
- [55] Stangherlin A, Reddy AB. Regulation of Circadian Clocks by Redox Homeostasis. J. Biol. Chem. 2013;288(37):26505–11.
- [56] GIESBERT SABINE, SCHÜRG TIMO, SCHEELE SANDRA, TUDZYNSKI PAUL. The NADPH oxidase Cpnox1 is required for full pathogenicity of the ergot fungus *Claviceps purpurea*. Mol Plant Pathol 2008;9(3):317–27. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2008.00466.x</u>.
- [57] Morita Y, Hyon GS, Hosogi N, Miyata N, Nakayashiki H, et al. Appressoriumlocalized NADPH oxidase B is essential for aggressiveness and pathogenicity in the host-specific, toxin-producing fungus *Alternaria alternata* Japanese pear pathotype. Mol Plant Pathol 2013;14:365–78.
- [58] Zhao YL, Zhou TT, Guo HS. Hyphopodium-specific VdNoxB/VdPls1-dependent ROS-Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling is required for plant infection by *Verticillium dahlia*. Plos Path 2016;12:e1005793.
- [59] Qin G, Tian S, Chan Z, Li B. Crucial Role of Antioxidant Proteins and Hydrolytic Enzymes in Pathogenicity of Penicillium expansum: Analysis Based on Proteomics Approach. Mol Cell Proteomics 2007;6(3):425–38.
- [60] Shi XQ, Li BQ, Qin GZ, Tian SP. Antifungal activity of borate against Colletotrichum gloeosporioides and its possible mechanism. Plant Dis 2011;95:63–9.
- [61] Zhang Z, Qin G, Li B, Tian S. Effect of Cinnamic Acid for Controlling Gray Mold on Table Grape and Its Possible Mechanisms of Action. Curr Microbiol 2015;71 (3):396–402.
- [62] Ji D, Chen T, Ma D, Liu J, Xu Y, Tian S. Inhibitory effects of methyl thujate on mycelial growth of *Botrytis cinerea* and possible mechanisms. Postharvest Biol Technol 2018;142:46–54.
- [63] Li H, He C, Li G, Zhang Z, Li B, Tian S. The modes of action of epsilon-polylysine (ε-PL) against *Botrytis cinerea* in jujube fruit. Postharvest Biol Technol 2019;147:1–9.
- [64] Ma D, Cui X, Zhang Z, Li B, Xu Y, Tian S, Chen T. Honokiol suppresses mycelial growth and reduces virulence of *Botrytis cinerea* by inducing autophagic activities and apoptosis. Food Microbiol 2020;88:103411.
- [65] Liu J, Sui Y, Wisniewski M, Droby S, Tian S, Norelli J, Hershkovitz V. Effect of heat treatment on inhibition of *Monilinia fructicola* and induction of disease resistance in peach fruit. Postharvest Biol Technol 2012;65:61–8.
- [66] Liu J, Wisniewski M, Droby S, Vero S, Tian S, Hershkovitz V. Glycine betaine improves oxidative stress tolerance and biocontrol efficacy of the antagonistic yeast *Cystofilobasidium infirmominiatum*. Int J Food Microbiol 2011;146 (1):76–83.